University of Richmond
UR Scholarship Repository

Master's Theses Student Research

7-1-1955

Hugh Blair Grigsby : a delegate to the Virginia
Constitutional Convention of 1829-30

William Allen Lesueur Deane

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarship.richmond.edu/masters-theses

Recommended Citation

Deane, William Allen Lesueur, "Hugh Blair Grigsby : a delegate to the Virginia Constitutional Convention of 1829-30" (1955).
Master’s Theses. Paper 95.

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Research at UR Scholarship Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in
Master's Theses by an authorized administrator of UR Scholarship Repository. For more information, please contact
scholarshiprepository@richmond.edu.


http://scholarship.richmond.edu?utm_source=scholarship.richmond.edu%2Fmasters-theses%2F95&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://scholarship.richmond.edu/masters-theses?utm_source=scholarship.richmond.edu%2Fmasters-theses%2F95&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://scholarship.richmond.edu/student-research?utm_source=scholarship.richmond.edu%2Fmasters-theses%2F95&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://scholarship.richmond.edu/masters-theses?utm_source=scholarship.richmond.edu%2Fmasters-theses%2F95&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://scholarship.richmond.edu/masters-theses/95?utm_source=scholarship.richmond.edu%2Fmasters-theses%2F95&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
mailto:scholarshiprepository@richmond.edu

HUGH BLAIR GRIGSBY3 A DELEGATE TO TE
VIRGINIA
CONSTITUTICNAL CONVENTIQN OF 182930

BY

WILLIAM ALLEN LESUEUR DBANE

8 - A THESIS ‘
SUBMITTED TO THE GRADWATE FACULTY
OF THE UNIVERSITY OF RICHMOND
IN CANDIDACY
- FOR THE DEGRES OF -
MASTER OF ARTS I HISTORY

- AUGUST, 1955



PREFACE

It has not besn the intention of the writsr to give a definitive
bilegraphy of Hugh Blair Grigsby but enly te relate his ebsarvations ard
participation in the Virginia Constitutienal Convention of 1829-30,

The major portion ef ﬁh@ material collected in the preparatioen
of this paper has bzen tzken from the papsrs and diaries of Grigsby in
the Virginie Historical Socisty. Much informatlon alse was gathered
from the Virginie Stateiidbrary, being derived largely from currsnt
newspapers during the time of the Convention,

Thanks are extended to the personnsl of the Virginis Historieal
Society and the Virginia State Iibrary who have assisted the writer in
this endeavor, and particularly te Mr, William M, Rachal, editor of The
Virginia Yagazine of History and Bio

oraphy, who suggested the tepic and

who granted sssistance from time to time, to Dr. R. C. McDanel, ef the
Univeraity of Richmond, for his eriticisms and suggestions, and to Mr,
Howson Cole, of the Historical Society, who aided in the collection of
the material throughout,

As but a small token of appreciation the writer gratefully ded-
icates this papser to Dorothy P. Deare, whoss ald and encoursgement has

been a constant factor throughout its develepment.
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CHAPTER I

The pateraal ancestor of the Gﬂgsbﬁrfanﬁi;y' is répui:ed to have
emigrated.fro:n Bngland to Virgizﬁa in the same century, but same years
after the set.;{;lemez.’r‘c. at Jamestown, The year given as the date of his
arrivel is 1660.1 | ” | |

John Grigsby, among the first c‘afktha Grigaby line in Virginia, was
born in Stafford couni;y‘ in the ysar 1720, He married twice, first at the
age of twenty-six to a liss Lichison, and secondly at the age of féx*by—-
foui' to Elizabeth Porter of Orangé county, Virginia. John Grigsbyfs
fivst wife bore him five children (she died in their sixteenth year of
marriage), the eldest of whom was James Grigsbye I'\Iine' thlrlfan wers born
of thé second zzzarriageoz - |

Jémes Grigsby alse married twice, In 1768 he ;ﬁarried Frances
Porter, sister oi‘ his sﬁepﬁbt.her; To them was first born a son whom they

christened Benjamin Porter Grigsby. The date of his birth was Sepleme

ber 18, 1770, and ‘the place vas Orange county. Benjamin Grigsby attended

1. Hugh Be Grigsby, The History of The Virginia Federal Caavention
of 1788, Vols IX of Virginia Historical Soclety Collecticns ede by Rs As
Brock, pe vie

2o Ibid,

3 Ihido, P viie




2

Liberty Hall Academy which later became known as Washington and Lee Uniw
versitys, VWhile yet a young man, Benjamin Grigsby set out with a compan-
ion in quest of an occupation. Grigsby?!s friend dropped off :m Petersburg
but he continued on to Norfolk whers he became the first pastor of the
first Presbyteriem church in that town, Here he remained, and here he |
married Elizabeth McPherson, deughter of Hugh and Lilias (Blair) NcPher-
son, To them was borm & son on November 22, 1806, vwhom they named Hugh
Blair.h

As Hugh Blailr Grigsby is the main subject of this paper, it be~
comes practical to give a brief sketch of his early life, Here the writer
is peﬁ;lexed by a difficult problem, for little is recorded of the Sub-
jectls early years, Thers has been no biography of Hugh B. Grigsby to
date and of the fow sketches whn.ch have been located by this writer, all
seem to have been taken exclusively from R, Aa Brock‘s biographical
sketch of Grigsby in one of the latter's works. 4As Brock wes a contempo-
rary, and in later years a close associate of Grigsby, this probably pre-
sents the best skebtch of his life, Though valuable as this material may
be, Brock seriously neglected Grigsby?!s flrst years, and they are years
of some importance,

From all accounts, young Grigsby did not have a happy ‘childhe‘od.
Poor health is partly accountable ‘for ihis s and the déath of his father
when Grigsby waé naﬁ yet four years old was iilcet»ﬁ.SQ a great misfortune,

Though in later ysars Grigsby may have overcome his grief upon the loss

Le Ibide, pe Vie
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of his father, he never seemed to have completely defeated his poor state
of healih, This accompanied him all through life and was especially ap-
parent durdng his childhood years., In fact, Crigsby was of suc§1 delicate
cond;iﬁion as a child it was believed he would survive only a2 short t:i_me.E
Ths source of his condition lay in a ’pulmonazy\infecﬁio% and only through
daily exercise and greal psrseverancs was Grigsby afforded & long, though
someuhat restrained, life, His daily exercise consisted largely of a long
walk and on soms days a swim in the Atlantic Qcean,

Iaclkdng the many diversions that are atiendant upon present day
life, and having suffered too the loass of his father's companionship,
Grigsby manifested & desire for study from early boyhood. At an eai‘ly
age he journeysd to Prince Edward county and there entered & classical
school under the principalship of a lirs Drury lacy, a former Vice~presi~
dent of Hampden Sy’d.ney College. | 4s students {rom scme distance attended
the school, Mr. Lzcy was obviously a vézy sbmpetcant and well-known educa~
Lor. Ivfa.ny- years later, in delivering the centeanial address at Hampden
Sydney College, Grigsby related an sccomt of this schoolings

It was in the capzacity of the pzﬁnciéal of a classical school

which ha [Drury Lacy] conducted under his own roof until the day of
his death in 1815, that he readered most valuable service to his
country, His pupils came from a distance, and lived in his family
or at the house of some one of his nsighborss I was one of those
pupils and bear my testimony to his thorough teaching of the Latin
tongue, Though sixty-one years have passed since I was under his

care, I feel the influence of his teaching on ry mind and character
at this momentessed : - . .

5. Hugh B, Grigsby, Discourse On The Lives and Characicrs of The
Farly Presidents and Trustess of Hampden-Sidney Collese, Vols VIL Hoe 4
of the Hampden-Sidney College Bulletin, p. Vs

65 Ibida:, Pe 23—@
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From this account one can very easily ascertain Grigsby’ls approx-
imate age during his enrcllment at the schools As he was then (at the
time of this speec:h at Hampden Sydney College) nearing sevanty' years of
age, sixty-one yéérs having passed as he stated, the young student would
have been ninc years old., However, Grigsby!s exact age in this instance
is not teo important, The significant fact here is he enjoyed at least
the rudiments of & formal education during an early age and under the
direction of a better than average tutor,

On the same occasion, the s@ea.ker left to posterity another bit of
information relative to an interesting episode during the course of his
early study under Mr. Lacy - an event which alwost cost Grigsby hié life,
During his att.endé.nce at ths school, the youngster contracted typhoid
fever and for many days was in & state of delirium and unconscliocusnesss
Typhoid in those days was quite oi“t..en\ fatal; and according to Grigsby it
wag believed that he would not recovers Accordingly, he related, "iy
mother, an.d only surviving parent, who lived two hundred miles away, had
been sent for to be present, as I afterwards learned, at my burial or at
least to look upon the grave of her eldest child and only ssmau.”7

Fortunately for Mrs, Grigsby (and her son) she was spared the ore
deal of such misforbune as the young Grigsby soon recovered..

“Shortly after the clash with death, Grigsby felt again the grief
of losing someone closee This time it was in the psrson of Mr, Lacy.

Grigsby obviously admired his tutor a great deal, and it is very probable

7o Ibids, pa 22,
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that Dmry Lacy did much for the youngster by giving him the kind of comw
panionship lost to CGrigsby through the passing of his father, This re-
lationship was disclosed on the same cccasion when the spesaker -statedx
"This great teacher [Lacy] regarded his pupils with the feelings of a
father.“s Grigsby then revealad ’bha.t he lived in the lacy home, Conside
ering these facts, and remnembering the youngster was fatherless, it is
all but apparent the principal had a gpecial place in his heart for the
young Grigsbye

‘Shortly after the death of lrs Lacy, & third man came into the
life of Grigsby who might have given to him the fatherly affections cher-
ished by all youngsters, In Jamuary, 1817, Elizabeth Grigsby married Dr,
Nathan Colzate Whitehead., Though no record is available as to the amiaw
bility of stepfather and son during the early years, they apparently were
quite close, for it is a matter of record that in lé.ter years the two were
very friendly and corresponded frequently,

In the years immediately after Grigsbyl!s schooling in Prince fdw
ward county, this writer has beon unable to determine the pattern of his
life, It is very probable he was enrolled in a similar schools MNrs Brock -
related in his biographlical sketch that & Reve W. We Duncan was one of
Grigsby?!s early tutors, It is also interesting to note he recalled that
My, William Lagy of Prince Edward county too was an early instructor of

the youngsters Brock, apparently writing from memory, was mistaken in

8. Ibid,
9e Grigsby, History of Virginia Federal Convention, p. viii,
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Lacy's first name. Assuming Hrs Brock was correct in his assertion cone
ceming Rev, Duncan!s being an instructor of Grigsby, this writer would
contend that the youngster entered school under the tutelage of Revs Dune
can after the death of Drury lacy., The most obvious basis for such & cone-
clusion rests on the age of Hugh Blair Grigsby when he attended the Prince
Edward county school. iia was then only nine or younger, depending upon
his length of enrollment., However this may be, it will later become quite
apparent to the reader Grigsby benefited in either instance and obviously
received & much better than average sducation as a youngster.

Grigsby as a child was an avid reader. This was a habit hse retain-
ed throughout his long lii'«a_ﬁm;g % pr course, was much the rdcher i‘or- spend-
ing his leisure hours in suéﬁ_Mer, He found particular enjoyment in
biography and ons can quickly perceive this by briefing his diaries in
later years. As an eighteen year old Grigsby found »delight not only in
reading bilography but in writing a wolume depicting the character, perw
sonal appearance and social traits of the leading Virginia statesmen and
c¢lergy with whom he was most i‘amiliargm That Hugh Grigsby was an ardent
lover of books and reading was attested to during later years when he had
a single tuilding constructed for the purpose of housing his six thousand
volunes collected through the years., The major portion of those volumes
were subjects of history, biography and the ancient classics.u‘ His pur-

chase of those books and his daily readings will be pointed out from tims

10, Ibid.
1. Ibidog De xig



to time in the course of this paper.

Completion of Grigsby's volume referred to above brings the writer
to the year 1824, Some time during that year, or in the cc_mraé of the
next, he enrolled in Yale College with plans of someday becoming & lawyers
As was so true of Grigsby's past, misfortune again beset the young man
and prevented the completion of his irmediate objective - consumption of
the law course there. Actually his health was again involved. Upon this
mishap - the contraction of an impairment in his hearing - Grigsby was
compelled to terminate his college carser. Howaver; he refused to be
denied, Displaying the temerity and the abundent fortitude he obviously
possessed, the i‘ollcﬁng year was one of concentrated study. The reader
should recall Grigsby was yet far from healthy and all during that year
of study was quite frequently plagued by 11l healths That sickness, of
course, stemmed from his pulmonary disease, | ’

During that year of study (1827) it was probably due to want of a
systematic program in his studies that Grigsby began his first diary, for
a2 large portion of the entiies in this and later diaries are related to
his scholarly activities. However, this is not the sols importance of
his diariess The reader will recall menbtlon was made above concerning
the shortage of materdal available on Grigsby's early life, This then is
their (his diaries) real value, for it was rarely that Grigsby missed a
day!s account once he began Hovember 19, 1827,

) On that first day Grigsby recorded that he read Blackstone, the
eminent English jurdst and writer on law, and John Locke, the English

philosphers GCrigsby was a serious reader, and this is quickly perceived
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by reviewing his daily recordings. He was particularly an enthusiastic
student of Blackstone. Q(n this day the young man also set down & plan
which he resolved to pursue in his studies. Before breakfast hé was Lo
golve a question in arithmetic and read a chapter in Blackstone. After
breakfast Blackstone was again to be read and a proposition :m Buelid was
to be studieds In the afternocon, following lunch, Grigsby resolved to
read at least twenty pages in Blackstons and walk until dark. "After sup-
per,’ he resolved to, "read, write, ;ﬂay, talk and the like.“lz

Several days later, November 22, Grigsby noted that it was his
birthday. That day Grigsby became of age (twenty-one) and celsbrated by
having a "good day's réad:i.nga"lB That was hardly & change for the étudm
ious youngster, being the scholar he was, for the next number of days were
passed in the same manner, law being his prime subject.

The first of December was the first time Grigéby made any mention
of his close friend, Jolm N, Tazewell, in his diary. On that day Grigsby
noted, "Went to church. [I] Spent the afternoca with John Ne Tazewsll in
his father!s nbmry,"m The younger Tazewell and Grigsby were constant
associates, and the latter quite frequently mfaxrt;iéns John Tazewell in his
day to day accounts, Almost without fail it will be seen that the two
took a long walk together or just "conversed", John Tazewell was the son
of Littleton W, Tazewell, a man whom Grigsby was to follow in the Virginia

Convention ~ but more of this in a later chapter,

12, Hugh B, Grigsby, "Diary lios 1 of Hugh Blair Grigsby, November
19, 1827 - April 26, 1828%, found in Virginia Historical Society, loven

13, Ibids., November 22, 1827,

s Ibid.;g Decenber l, 182743
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As stabed above he attended church on that Sunday, and he appare
ehtly'was a regular church-goer, There are very few Sundays when he did
not attend at least once, and on the majority of Sundeys he heafd two
sermons. Betwesn sermons on those days, Grigsby usually read and/or
walked with John N, Tazewell or some other friend. At times, though, his
health evidently prevented his attending church. In thabt event he would
remain home and read, sometimes in bed if he felt very "unwell®, as he
usually recorded,

On December 14 the young man wrote in his diary he gave his first
vote.15 Appayrently the occasion was a local contest there in Norfolk.
Incidentally, he voted for the winning candidate, |

Several days lator Grigsby noted the death of George Blalr and
stated that his loss was @ groat one, He paid his respects in part by
writing an obituary for the Nerfolk papersglé

Christmas of 1827 was & guiet, uneventful day. Grigsby passed the
day in reading Boswellls "life of Johnson.“l7 By the end of the week
Grigsby had the feeling he had not been too diligent for he stateds "“This
week I have idled, but have (had] nevertheless an useful review, [having)
read about 3000 octavo pages of miscellanies."ils

On the first day of the new year, 1828, Grigsby was unwell.l9 This

was one of his occasional notations, and seens to be an all too freguent

15, Ibide, December 1, 1827,
16, Ibide, December 16, 1827,
17 Ibide, December 25, 1827,
18, Ibids, December 29, 1327,
19, Ibide., January 1, 1828,



10
recording when one remembers the young man was only twenty-one years of
age. From these facts one derivas"a clear understanding as to his state
of health, and the hindrancé the nan suffered as a conaaquence.-z Cbviocus--
1y he refused to be defeated by his condition for he lived to the age of
seventy~five}

It might be interesting to note that on this date, January 1,
Grigsby became a manager of the Norfolk Athenasum. Debating at the Athen~
asun on Saturday nights was a favorite pastime of Grigsby and many of the
local, scholarly inclined n;an at the time and contimued to be for many
yearss

Several weeks later, on Jamary 14, Grigsby again noted his iaoor
healths ®"Have felt very unuswal this day, My health is declixﬁng."zc

The fellowing day another meticulous plan of study was drawn up:
"iish to devole six hours every day to law and six t‘c mathematics, One:
hour before breakfast to law, and from nine to twoe Walk in the evening
+ill sixe Then study mathematics until twelve ."21 He further stated
this was the schedule he should follow but due to his condition was ap-
prehensive as to whether he would be able to pursus the cawse tius
adopted,

Some time dur:i;ig the late winter, or more probably early spring,
Grigsby's work, "Letters by & South Carclinlan," was published, He first
mentions the book in his diary on Jammary 21l. During the same week he

20, Ibid,, Jemary 1, 1828
21, Ibid., January 15, 1828,
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revealed the sale of the complete edition to a Mr, Bonsal, the proprietor
of & bookstore in l‘iorfalk.zz This was his first such work for publica~
tion, and evidently it had its merits for on HMay 15 there appeafed in the
Boacon, & Norfolk newspaper, an extract from the New Tork inquirer come
mending Grigsby on his a»sc»r}(;.23 It should be stated here that the book he
completed during his eighteenth year apparently fuinished the basis for
the above mentioned work., Both works constituted a brief study of the
more influential men of Virginia.

.~ Grigsby's immediate objective in his study program was the passing
of ths bar exam and on June 22, 1829 his labors brought successs . On
that day he qualified as & member of the Horfolk Beir, and thus at t.fze age
of twenty-two Hugh Grigsby becane & legal counselors It should be come
monly agreed attainment of that goal had been difficult, not from the
standpoint of mental deficiency bul due to physical ?:eamessg . Determina-
tion spelled the differences, This becomes a proven fact upon observing
that on one day while striving toward his objective, Grigsby read a total
of L4 pages of 1awl He rocorded: "I feel satisfied (almost) with my
day's work; but my health will not stand it long.“zs

However, during this year, or more, of self-teaching Grigsby was
not occupied entire]y by studya ivi‘ez:t:ion has been made above of some die

version such as attending church, and his walks and con\fersationsm IO

22, Ibid., January 24, 25, 1828,
23, Grigsby, "Diary No, 2, April 28, 1828 ~ July 27, 18280,
Mey 15, 1828, S Sl e
~2he Grigsby, "Diary Nos 3z, Hay 3, 1829 - October 3, 1829",
Jun@ 22, 18290
25, "Diary o, 17, February 18, 1328,
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particularly with John Tazewell. There wers other leisure hours of de-
bating at the Scciety on Saturday nights to which reference has also been
madss Another of Grigsby's favorite pastimes was the collection of books,
His desire was not satiated solely by reading a bookj he wanted the work
for his own possession, Several times during early life he decided to
keep & written account of all the books he obitained, One such date is
recorded in his first dj.a.r:yn,26 There is evidence available in the fom
of several small memorandum pads that Grigsby attempted to keep such ine
formation, but he never succeeded for any length of ’c.ime.27 Possibly
there are records to the contrary elsewhere, but probably he never suce |
ceeded in that his pufchases were so frequent. Such information (re;-
garding the purchase of bocks) is related throughout his diaries and is
attested by the library he possessed, all of which was referred to above,
To cite one instance which is ample proof that he was an ardent lover of
books, Grigsby once related that of $30.00 he possessed, nearly $25.00
was spent for the purchase of various \to].umesl28

Shortly after Grigsby obtained his law license, he undoubtedly
was surprised upon learning of his having been named as a candidate to
represent Norfolk in the State Legislature., He left this accounts
I was this date [April 28, 1824l brought out as a candidate to

represent the borough [of Norfolk] in the State Legislature, I was
the only candidate on the Hustings., I spoke for about an sic 40

26, Ibid,, March 7, 1828,

27+ See Grigsby'!s papers in Virginia Historical Society.

28, Grigsby, "Diary No., 3, September 10, 1828 - October 25, 1828,
September 21,», 1828.
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minutes before the polls were opened, I cobtained 189 votes, about
70 over Gen,.Taylor, who was voted for tho'! sic not strictly a
candidate. : ~
After the polls were closed he made & brief extemporaneous speech
thanking the people and promising to promote their interests, In conse
quence of his victory, the people aftervards conducted Grigsby to his
home upon their shoulders and remained in celobration until 11 or 12 o'=
clock that night.29 |
Inasmich as it appears Grigsby benefited little in way of compen-
sation by obtaining his law license, this writer has pondersd the question
as to the source of his finances during this period of his life. IEvident-
1y his stepfather aided him from time to time. Of course, he eamed- éome
money from the sale of his "Letters" to Mr, Bonsal, but he left no record
of how much he thus gained in the way of finances., It may be interesting

for the reader to know that in later years (1834) the origin of his fi-

nances lay in a newspaper, the Norfolk American Beacon, of which he became

editors Grigsby held that position for six years and in 1840 sold ths
paper for 3:60,000.00.30 - It is superfluous to add that had he ever been
faced with financial difficulty beforse, Grigsby certainly had no such worry
in later yéars.

The late spring, summer and fall of 1828 were spent in a relative=
1y leisurely manner, though by no means was Crigsby fres of all cares.
His most pressing (and almost constant) problem was that of his healths

In order to prevent being bedridden, the young Grigsby vas forced to resort

29. "Diary No. 2", April 28, 1828,
30. Grigsby, History of Virginia Federal Convention, p. viii.
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to a more systemized regularity in his exercise. This took the form of
long daily welks and a frequent swim in the Atlantic Ocean, He recorded
at one stage during this period: "I am sick and must devote a great deal
of time to exercise, I shall devote all this week and the next to hard
exerciseg"Sl Several days later Grigsby noted: "[I) was this day taken
violently sick with a bilious cholic»"sz This attack lasted for several
days, and on October 5 he recorded he was yet “unwall.“33

The high spot during this period of Grigsby's life, and possibly
a morale lifter to the youhg‘ man during his tims of silckness, was his ac-
quaintance with Liﬁtleton Waller Tazewell, a man with whon Grigsby was to
become a close associate, and an ardent admirer in the near ﬁrbure.% |
Mr, Tazewell was a very prominent personage in Virginia and widely known
throughout the United States at the time, being a member of the United
States Senate. Actually he was more than just a member of that body, In
later years Grigsby stated that he (Tazewell) held the foremost place in
that body during his presence of nearly eight years.ss This was not the
gole public office which Tazewell had occupied, nor was this position his
last for in a few years he was slected Governor of the State‘-.zé

Viewing this distinguished record, it is no wonder Grigsby was so

31, "Diary No, 3", September 25, 1828,

32, Ibid., October 1, 1828,

33. Ibid., October 5, 1828,

34, “Diary No, 2%, June 4; 1828,

35, Hugh B. (}mgsby, Discourse on The Iife and Character of The
Hon. Iittleton Waller Taezewell, pe 57.

366 de Re Ve Daniel, ed,, A Hornbook of Virginia History, pe 8e




15
fascinated by Mr, Tazewell, being the student he (Grigsby) was of history
ahd biography., On their first meeting Grigsby recorded: ®I was really
gratified in becoming acquainted with a man of his splendid. taleﬁts and
agresable mnnera."37

Several days later the young Grigsby spent the evening with John
Ne Tazewell (probably to gain the presence of his father) and heard Mr,
Tazewell converse on the Judiciary of Virginia and the coming constitue
tional convention, His conversation concerning the convention was ceu-
tered on the right of suffrages On this measure Tazewell stated it could
not be generael because (1) the masters would control the Negro vote (2)
fathers would conirol daughters? votes and husbands their wives! and '(3)
children lack the diseretion, all of which Grigsby observed ﬁwas a most
ingenious arguments”Bé A little more than a year later and Grigsby was
backing Tazewell on similar arguments in the Gonvantién.’

Insomuch as that year (1828) was a presidential election year,
it might be of interest to note Hugh B, Grigsby was a sugporter of An-
drev Jackson and recorded several entries in his diary relative to the
contest, Upon one instance he wrote: "[IJheard the glorious news of
Jackson!s sWeep in Méw York." Perhaps Grigsby was here influenced by
Littleton We Tazewell who was hostile to the administration of John Qe

39
Adams and was thereby opposed to his re-election. This assumption can

be further supported when it is remembered the Norfolk district generally

i

- 37, "Diary Noa 2%, June /4, 1828.
383 Ibido’ June 6, 18280
39+ Grigsby, Discourse On Littleton W, Tazewell, ps 5%
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opposed Jackson,

Shortly after Jackson?s election, on November 22, Grigsby had more
cause for celebration, that day being his twenty-second birthday, But he
was in a pensive, if not a disconsolate, mood, He wrote:s "I have kept a
diary since I became of age and this is the last day of this book. Dur~
ing the last year my health has been very bad « I hope it may be bstter
during the present,lko

Thus Grigsby clossd cub his first yearls diary, For the next five
months he did not attempt to keep a rescord of his day to day activity,
but there is no question as to his whereabouts during that period, He
was serving his first year in the House of Delegates. Thers he bec&ne
acquainted with many of the men with whom he was to serve in the convenw
tion during the following year,

Terminating his first session as & member of ﬁhe House of Delegates,
Grigsby returned to Norfolk and began again his regular routine of life =
the large part of which as yet consisted of walking and studying. Hxcept
for two occasions during the summer and fall (of 1829), such was the
course of his life during that periods

The two exceptions included a trip on foot to the western part of
the state, and his introduction to the President of the United States,
Androw Jackson,

Grigsby being the admirer of Jackson'tbét he was, the writer is
quite certain he was overjoyed by the event though he somewhat nonchalantly

40, "Diary No, 3", November 22, 1828,
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recorded in his diarys W"Jackson arrived in Norfolk today, and I had the
honor of being introduced to him.“b{l '

On his western trip to thé mountains Grigsby wis accompanied by a
friend from Norfolk., During the course of the three wecks! adventure,
Grigsby and his companion visited such places as Monticello and Natural
Bridge.bz The sheer exercise was probably ehjoysd by Grigsby mors than .
any occurrence on the journey, and on one day when the two traveled thir-
ty miles, he ramarked: "Hade slow progress today.“uw

When Grigsby and his companion reached Norfolk on their return,

the Virginia Convention was not two months distantess

1. "Diary Nos 33", July 10, 1829,
1&20 Ibid&, Ju]-y 223 28’ 1829.
43. Tbids, July 19, 1829,



CHAPTER IX

AN INTIRESTED CITIZEN

Before going into Grigsbyls observations as a gpectator at the Con-
vention, the writer will first give an account of the story behind the
Convention,

Since the end of the Revolution there had been much agitation
throughout the state expressing desire for a changs in the constibubion
which had been drawn up in 1776, Thore had been one minor change in.tha'!:,
document during the course of ysarss That alteration gave the ballot to
any white man t;«eenty—-one years of age or over who possessed twenty-ILive
acres of land, Forsrly the same such man required fifty acres in his
: possession.l That adjustment satisfied a few frecholders, but the meag-
urs was by no means an answer to all grievances set forth.

' The westermn part of Virginie was the major source of contention and
rightly so. The westerners?! prime argument concermed the unequal ap-
portionment of representation in the State Legislature. In 1828, for exm
ample, the west had a total white population of 254,196 and sent only
eighty members to the House of Delegates and nine members to the Senate,

The eastern division of the state totaled 348,873 in white population and

1ls Charles Henry Ambler, Sectionalism in Virginia Fram 1776 to
1861, Pe 1370
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was represented by 13/ Dalegates and fifteen Seﬁatorsaz Had the ap=-
portiomuent then been baéed upon the white basis exélus:‘wely, the west
would have bscn awarded ten additional Delegates and the east would have
thereby lost the same numbers There would have been little, if any,
change in the composition of the Senate.s

The reader will notice that reference has been made only to white
population, This actually was the crux of the disagreement. As it then
sbood, three-fifths of the Negro slaves were being counted in the total
population used as the basis of representation. Inasmch as the big
planters were located in the eastern section of Virginia the overwhelming
majority of the slaves were to be found there. The west hed few slavés,
which accounted, in part, for its smaller population, thereby resulting
in fewer seats in the government. The west then was obviously in favor
of a strictly white basis for representation, As the ‘easi:. stood to lose
on that basis, the majority of the populace of that section naturally
opposed any change. Though this was the major grievance expressed prior
to the Convention, and as will be seccn, wes the number one problem during
the Convention, it was certainly not the only cause for disagreement,

Extension of the suffrage was another problem which required ate
tention, This measure was supported in many sections of the state, sast
and west alike, It was generally estimated that only 45,000 persons were
then given the ballot out of soms 75 or 76,000 who should have been

2. Ibid.
3@ Ibid L
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accorded the vvteok

Dissatisfaction was also expressed over the‘frequency and'length
of the Legislative sessions. People of the west believed a substential
cut in expenditures could be achieved if the number and duration of such
assemblies were reduced, The revenue so saved, the westerners suggested,
might then be used to improve roads and canals»5

The governor'!s council was another source of contention and the
westerners were particularly disaffected by its existence, They wishaed
its abolition dus to iis feputed abuse of its powers in connection with
the internal improvement and the literary funds.é

The county courts were in many instances corrupt in practice #nd
so proved a source of badly needed raform.

Becauss the majority of such reform measures set forth found thelr
origin in the west, the western delegates to the Convention were generally
referred to as the reformerse. Bub now to give a brief story of the efw
forts which ultirately culminated in the Convention,

As previcusly stated, agitation for amending the constitution had
existed since ﬁhe Revolution, By 1816 the problems occupied such impor-.

tance as to result in a convention at Stauntons That convention origie

nated from a meebing of twenty-two prominent men of western and northern

4o Proceedings and Debates of The Virginia State Convention of
1829-30, ed, by Ritchie and Cooks Speech of Doddridge November 21, 1829,
ppe 423, L2 :

5s Ambler, Sectionalism in Virginia, pp. 138, 139,
b4 Ibide, pe 139,
7. Richmond Enguirer, August 7, 28, 31, 1816,
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Virginia held in Winchester in ilay, 1816, Their objective was to organ-
ize agitation towards the Legislaturs favoring the call of a consfaitutional
convenhion to correct the inequalities of representation which existed in
that body, particularly the House of Delegatess To that end the people
of each county were urged by the Winchester assembly to elect two members
to attend a convention a."t‘ Staunton on August 19 of that year.g
When the convention delegates assembled, only thirty-six counties
were represented, Discussion was centered largely upon the basis of repre-
sentation questione The object of the group was attained through & men-
orial to be presented the Legislaturs asking that a bill be passed to
permit the people to decide whether a convention should be called for- the
~purpose "to alter and amend the defects of the Constitutien.“g The pebi-
tion met with success in the House of Delogates but' was defeated by the
Senate.lo Although this was true, the convention did aid in bringing
about & reapportiomment in the Senate. As a result of that measure, the
east received fifteen instead of twenty members in that body, and the
west was awerded five additional Senators, malkdng a tobtal of nineall
That change subdued agitation for only & short period, and not long
thereafter the Legislature waé being petitioned by citizens throughout the
state requesting reform,

The stage was now sel for another convention in Staunton during the

8. Ibid.g, June 123 1816¢

9, Ibide, August 31, 1816,

10, Ibide, February 13, 1817.

11, Julian A, C. Chandler, Representation in V:I.rg_z;&.n:r.agi Vols XIV of
the Johns Hopkins University Studies, ps 25,
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swmer of 1825, called by those favoring reform, The body convened

July 25 of that year, ‘.Zhifty—-i’ive counties and two cities were repre-
sented, and five counties elected delegates who did not a'bt.enden As
was the case in 1815, the méjorjity of the delegates who attended wers
westerners, but the 1825 convention éxerfc.ed nore inf}.uanca and atbracted
more attention that its kpredecessor. 'After-'é waek of deliberation, var
ious resolutions émp‘rassir‘lg reform were agreed upén » One favored a re-
duction ofkm@n’oeréhip :Lu‘ the; Hou:s‘e *'Of. Délega'tes; amithert the white basis
of po@ﬂ.&ti&n ‘aé the basis of :rapréseﬁﬁéﬁibn in "‘r,rheew General Assembly, and
a third favored an extension of the ,s‘uffragé.m'
As a result of that conceft-ed;actioﬁ,' TWOre pressurs was éxerbea. |
on the Legislaturé during : the: 1825-26 session requesting the call of a
cbﬁvention; | Repeéted _éttemiats having vféileci, : the Legislature i‘iné.li.y ' |
passed a bill dumng the session of,l,827-28 for the purpose of submitting
to popular vote the vdeciéioin Tfor célling a convéntién‘lf) During the |
spring of 1828, the vote was taken, and a majority of 5,000 approved of
 the meaéﬁ‘xv'e‘av ,The vote stood 21,896 to lé,éhé.lb Generally, the voting
pattern on the measure fell into an east vs, west contest, with the west,

of course, favoring the call, Thers were a few minor exceptions, as can

be seen from the map on the following page.

12, Enquirer, July 22, 1825,

13, Chandler, Representation in Virginia, p. 28

14, Enguirer, dugust 1l, 1825,

15 Julian A. C. Chandler, The History of Suffrage in Virginia,
Vol. XIX of the Johns Hopkins University Studies, p. 30,

16, Proceedings and Debates, p. 1ii,
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fwenly divided

17. Ambler, Sectionalism in Virginia, pe. 144.
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Though the decision had been reached to call the convention, there
was yet mch canténtion té be settled bofore thal assembly was tq bécbme
a reality. Disagreement arose in the Legislature dum‘tha foliowing
session (1828-29) concerning the method of seleétiug the delegaﬁea who
would attend, After much wrangling, it was finally agreed to select the
members according to the Senaﬁorial digtricts in the st.atéo Four dele-
gates were to represent each district, and as there were tséenﬁynféur such
districts, this meant a total of ninety-six delegatess The date set for
meeting wvas October 5, 1829 '3-3 | .

Remarkable judgment was displayed by the Legislators when it was
~ agreed no restriction was to be placed on the selectién of the mamberé
according to their distriect of residence or of offices lrz‘efl.cl;l9 As é. ro-
sult of that stipulation, when the Convention convened there was an array
- of public figures sﬁch as had é«eldm ‘bean witnessed and, in fact, has
probably remained unsurpassed in talent and cap&bility,to this day, lMany
hold it equal in talent and ability to the great convention held in the
state in 1788 which passed upon the Federal Consti‘bution.zo That asserw
tion will be upheld by many upon reading the names of those so clected,

e

Giving the list according to Senatorial districtss

DISTRICT C : :
NO. COWNTIZS AND/OR BOROUGHS NAMES OF DELEGATES

1, Amelia, Chesterfield, Cum~ Jom V¥, Jones
berland, Nottoway, Powhatan Benjamin W, Leigh

and Town of Petersburg Sarmmel Taylor

William Be Giles

18 Co He Young, Virginia Constitutional Convention of 1829, Vol, I
Nos 2 of The John P, Branch Historical Papers of Randolph Macon College, pl03.

19. Proceedings and Debates, ps iii.

20, Ibide




DISTRICT
NO,

2
3
be
5
.
e
Bs
‘9¢

10.

COUNTIES AND/OR BOROUGHS

Brunswick, Dinwiddie, lumen-
burg and lMecklenburg

City of Williamsburg, Charles
City, Elisabeth City, James
(City) Henrico, New Kent,
Warwick and York

Shenandoah and Rockingham

Augusta, Rockbridge and -
Pendleton

¥onroe, Greenbrier, Bath,
Botetourt, Alleghany,
Pocahontas and Nicholas

Sussex, Surry, Southampton,
Isle of Wight, Prince George
and Greensville

Charlotte, Halifax and Prince
Bdward :

Spotisylvania, Louisa, Orenge
and MHadison

Ioudon and Fairfax

25

NAMES OF DELEGATES

William H. Broadnax
George C. Dromgoole
Hark Alsexander
Wiliiem O, Goode

John Marshall
Join Tyler

Philip N, Nicholas
Joln Bs Clopton

William Anderson
Sanuel Coffman
Peachy Harrison
Jacob D Williamson

Briscoe Ge Baldwin
Chapman Johnson
William ¥ Coy
Saruel 1'D, Hoore

Androw Bierne
William Smith
Fleming B, Hiller
John Baxter . .

John Y. Vason
James Trezvant
Augustine Claiborne
John Urquhart

John Randolph
William Leigh
Richard Logan
Richard N. Vensble

James Madison
Philip Ps Barbour
Robert Stanard
David Watson

Charles Fenton Mercer
James Monroe

William He Fitzhugh
Richard H, Henderson



DISTRICT

NO.

1.

12,

14,
15.
16,
17.
| 18,

19,

COUITIES AND/OR BOROUGHS

PFraderic and Jefferson

Hampshire, Hardy, Berkeley
and Horgan

Washington, Les, Scott,
Rusgell and Tazewell

King William, King and Queen,
Essex, Hanover and Caroline

Wythe, Montgomery, Grayson
and G:.les o

Kanawha, Mason, Cabell,
Randolph, Harrison, Lewis,
Wood and Iogan

Ohio, Tyler, Brooke, Monon~
galia, and Preston

Fauquier and Culpeper

Norfolk, Princess Anne,
Nansemond and Bcroug,h o:f

- Norfolk

26

NAMES OF DELEGATES

John Re Cooks
Alfred H, Powell
Hieroms L, Ople
Thomas Griggs, Jre

William Naylor
William Donaldson
flisha Boyd

Philip C, Pendleton

John Be George
Andrew M¥4illan
Edvard Campbell
William Byars

John Roane
William P. Taylor
Richard Horris
James Ms Garetd

Gordon Cloyd

Henley Chapman
John P, Hathews
William Oglesby

Edwin S. Duncan
John laidley
Lewis Summers
Adam See

Philip Doddridge
Charles S, Morgan
Alexander Campbell
Eugenius Me Wilson

John S+ Barbour
John We Green
John Scott

John Macrae

Littleton W, Tazewell
Robert B, Taylor
George Loyall
Joseph Prentiss



DISTRICT

NO,

20,

21,

22,

23.

Comi'flss AND/OR BOROUCHS

Campbell, Buckmuham and
Bedford '

Franklin, Patrick, Henry
and Piﬁts:,rlvania

Albamrie s Amherst, Helsbn,
Fluvanna and Goochland

King George; Vestmoreland,
Lancaster, Northumberland,
Richmond, Stafford and
Prince William

Mathews, iiiddlesex, Accomack,

Norbthampton and Gloucester

27

NAMAES OF DELEGATES

William Campball
Samel Claytor
Caliohill Memis
James Sauwnders

George Tounes
Benjamin W, S, Cabell
Joseph Hartin
Archioala Stuarb, Jre

James Pleasants

Willlam F, Gordon
Iucas P, Thompson
Thomas Hessies Jre

William A, G, Dade
Ellyson Currie
John Taliaferro
Fleming Bahos

Thomas R. Joynes
Thomas Ms Bayly

Calvin Hes Head
Abel P, Upshur
21

' Thus is seen the congregation of prominent public figures.  There

were two e\x-Presidents 5 @ Chief Justica of the United Stabes Supreme

Court, two United S'habes Senators, and eleven Federal Congressmen, two

ax—-Govemors and numbers oi’ Virginia Legislators.

Identifying several as

ta positiens of prominence, there wers ladison and lonroo, ex—-Prasidents,

and John Mazrshal.‘l.:a the grea est jurdst of his day and Chief Justice of

the Us Ss Supreme Courb.

John ‘I';rle r, fomer Governor of Virginia Who was

then serving a term in the Us Se Senate and who s in later years, became

President of the United States, was also present, as were John Randolph

21, Ibid,
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of Roanocke who had recently led the opposition in the Us 5, House of Rope
resentatives against the Adams?! administration, and Abel Upshur, noted
Jurist who‘ had served in the House of Delegates and later became éna of
Tyler!s cabinet msmbers by serving as head of the Navy Departmentozz Othera
worthy of mention in this comnection included James Pleasants, former
Governor of the state, Willlam B, Giles, Governor of the state at the time
of the Convention, Littleton Tazewsll, Grigsby's beloved friend and lsader
in the U, S, Senate, Fhilip P, Barbour, Speaker of the Ues S. House of Rep~
resentatives and later president of the Convention, and muwmbers of others
too numerous to recorct here.z3 There was at least one :Lnterested citizen
present who believed, as many others, that the membership of this Gonﬁen-
tion was hardly to be surpassed, and he was Hugh B, Grigsby. |

Retracing just a bib the writer should reveal that the first ref-
erence of any significance which Grigsby noted on the éa‘;ﬁng Convention
was nearly a week before the delegates‘ wers to assemﬁleu On that samé
day he also set down in his diary a course of study which he would ‘pursue
for the next five months. “E'he schedule to be followed called for the
stﬁclv of mathematics before breakfast and until 10 ofclock, At 12 olclock
he contez:qala{ed attending the Convention or, as he stated, Yat 12 otclock
attend the Capitol until dinner timea,"% The aftemoon was to be spent
in one of his favorite (and necessary) pastimes -« walking. The night was

224 Dictionary of American Biography, Vols. XV, 365 ansi XIX, 89, 127,
eds by Dumas Malona,

23s Armistead C, Gordon, William Fitzhugh Gordon, pp. 155, 156,

2L, “Diary Nos 33", September 30, 1829s
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to find him occupied in study. This, too, was Grigsbyis first menbion,
in his diary, of attending the Convention. Though this plan was qarefully |
drawn up, it was not closely followed and other than his asserticn to at—
tend the Capitol and wallk, it was practically abandoned in its entirety,
However, due to the prime reason it was shelved, and as swbsequent, cvents
proved, the young man from Norfolk was to gain far more in knowledge than
any such clossly followed course of study ever would have imparted. In
directly referring to the coming event, Grigsby stateds

I understand that Mre Tagewell [Iittleton W, Tazewell] and Mr,
Loyall lGeorge Loyalll will visit Richmond on Sunday for the purpose
of taking their seats in the August October Convention about to
assemble to frame anew the constitution of our state. It appears to
- me that three great questions will bs stated lst The basis of rep-
resentation; 2. The Right of Suffrace 3« The Court Sysbems 25
Ho then named the men whom he uhgught would be the pr&ncipal speak=
ors in ths COﬂM@ﬂthﬂo‘ ”hla list included, among others Philip Dadd~
ridge, Chapman Johmson, Littleton W, Tazowell, his friend from Norfblk
Borough3 John Randolph of Roanoke, William B, Giles, Charles F, nexcer
and Brlscoe Baldwina26 This sane day's entry also included the clothes
which he would carry and, of course, his liét of books which wculdvbe in-
cluded in his bagzage, Agaiﬁy@rigsby displays his obvious interest in
mathématics by includihg five bboks oﬁ that course in his list,.
| Two daye later he was occupled in packing for his Richmond jéunney,
and this must have gonsuﬁed‘the greéter part of the day for this notation
(concerning thezgacking of his clothes) was the only subject entry in his
diary that day,

25, Ibid,
26, IDide
27, lbids, October 2, 1829,



30

It was on a Sunday that Hr. Grigsby departed, On that day he rose
before the break of day (at 4 a.m.), and after breakfast had his baggage
conveyed to the wharf and thence on the steamboat, "Horfolk!, .The.baat
sailed 2t 7 a.ms, having on board as passengers Grigsby; the deleg;tion
from the nineteenth Senatorial District in the persons of Littleton We
Tazewéll, Robert B, Taylor, George Loyall and Joseph Prentiss, and at
least one other passengers 4s was natural for Grigsby, he became very
well acquainted with this latter traveler while steaming toward Richmond‘zg

Young Grigsby obviously enjoyed every minute of the trip to the
capital city, being in the company of these noted men. Of the four, how-
" ever, Mr, Tazewell, without a doubt, was the most prominent in Grigsbyis
mind, The youngster was infatuated by the "old" man (he was then 5k, )
This is»quite apparent in his (Grigsby's) references to Tazewell mentioned
in several instances above, and will be pointed out frém time to time, In
his diary he related: "On the passage'ﬁrs Tazewell amused and instructed
the members of the delegation with his engaging conversation on & nunber
of interesting subjects."29 Further he stated: "In the afternoon, he
[Tazewell] gave lr, Upshﬁr; Convention Delegate for Accomacke [Eid), a
complete accdunt of his county from the beginning of the world."Bo iy,
Taylor, whom Grigsby‘referred to as "Gen., Taylor", also engaged in the
coﬁversation. "In this way", wrote G;igsby, these genﬁlemsn whiled off

the time in a very agreeable manner,"

28, Grigsby, "Diary No. 4%, Octcber 4, 1829,
29, Ibid,
30, Ibid,
31, Ibid,
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The travelers reached the capital around 10 olclock that night and
took lodging in the Bagle Hotel, After talking wntil 12 midnight,A they
finally calléd it a cia;-;; a day which the excited Grigsby remembored for
many years to coma.32
But if that vday was exciting and long remembered by him, the next
brought forth no less excitement. The day was October 5y 1829, and even
though Grigsby had remained up until late the previous night, he rose
early and shortly thersafter had breakfast, at which time he saw a number
of the members of the Gonvention,BB No reference is made in his dlary as
to how the time was consumed between breakfast and 12 olclock, bub in all
probability the major portion was passed in conversing with old and ne;ns.fly
acquainted friendse
As the hour of twelve nocon approached, the merbers of the Convenw
tion and the interested spectators made their way to the liall of the House
of Delegates in the Capitol building, Grigsby gives a brlef account upon
the convening ofthe memberss
At 12 oiclock the Conventlon was called to order by lirs Madison;*
when he nominated Mr, Monrce &s presidsnt of the Convention who
being thersupon elected, was conducted to the chair by Chief Justice
Jarshall and Mre Madisons He then returned his thanks to the House
and the election of clerk was made. On the right of the chair was
Charles Fenton Iercer, on the left was hr. ladison and Judﬁe har-
shall, 34 ' :
Grigsby seemed more intent that day upon seeing the different meme

bers of the Convention, especially the more prominent ones, than he was

32, Ibid.. .
33. Ibids, Ocﬁober 5, 1829.
3La Ibldo »
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of taking in the proceedingss He.wrotes
I Saw Gé:gl. Briscoe G, Baldwin of Stauton LStaunton]s also Gov,
Pleasants [meaning former Governor James Pleasants, Jre who was Gove
ernor of Virginia from 1822 to 1825l 35 but I would particularly
notice John Randolph of Roanokes His black eye may be seen at an
immense distance. I heard lr, Loyall say that he saw Randolph bite
his lips when Honroe was nominated, and appearad on the eve of risge
ingl+ 36 , S ;
As Grigsby did not attempt to record any lengthy proceedings of
the Converbion, the writer will supplement his material from time to time
in order to afford the reader a better understanding of those procedures,
~ After the election of the President, Clerk and various minor posi-
tions, the roll was taken. The abssntees included William B, Giles from
the first district; Devid Watson of the ninth vho had already nctii’ied. :
the Ixecutive of his inability to serve; Callohill Mennis of the twentieth;
Willian Dade of the twenty-third, and Ellyson Currie also of the twenby-
third, who had passed away since his election}; and Calvin H, Read of the
twenty-fourth district .37 Of these, only Giles and Mennis ever attended,
During later sessions, Neale and Alexander F., Rose replaced Currie and
Dade of the twenty-third district; Waller Holloday took the seat of Wate
son from the ninth district, and William X, Perrin assumed the chair va-
cated by Read of the twenty-fourth district.38 There were several changes
in membership during the course of the assembly, and these will be noted
if such changes wers of major importance, | ‘

For the first few days the members were busy organizing procedures,

35'& A Hornbook of Virg;:!_._z' éa Histog,g, Sdc b;‘," JQ ite V; D&niel, P 8.

364 '"Diary Nos 4%, October 5, 1829.

37« Proucsedings and Debates, pe 5e ~

384 Journal, Acts and Proceedings of A General Convention of The
Commonwealth of Virginia 1829~30, ppe 23, 24, 34, Lb.
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One of the first steps taken was to set up & Coumitiee of Twenty-four
composed of one delesgate from each of the Senmatorlal Districiss The task
of this body wes that of adbpting a course, which they deemed the best
method, of completing the work of the Convention, and quite naturally it
wag composed of & goodly number of 'thé more prominent delegates,Bg

It was the second day of the Convention that the Committee 'bi‘ -
Twenty-four was brought into existence. Grigsby, of course, was present,
.but he was more concerned with the actions of Mr. Monroe, Some of the
delegates seemed & litile skeptical of his appointment as President from
the beginnings Though Grigsby was not a delegate at the time, he was far
from confident of the gentlemants ability, He wrote: ilir,s Monroals c6n~
duct in the chair is reprchensible enoughe 1t appears to be the opinion
of all with vhom I have conversed, that he will be necessitated to re~
sig&."w‘ This bit of prophecy wes later borme out,

It is superfluous to state thut Grigsb;,f found these days (and
nights) to be quite enjoyables After having attended the Convention,
he usually passed the res{. of the day in wall::ii};g aboﬁt the city with a
friend, conversing with f.ha different delegate‘s, and in some iunstances
reading, One of his earlier friends and frequent companions during these
Convenf.ion days vas William F, Gbrdon, Dglegéte from the ﬁsrenty«-seccnd
Districta Grigsby always refarred to hinm as Gene Gordon" and actually
he was a Genéral. Though he had served in the War of 1812 as & private,

39g Ibid., pa; 100
!}Og v“Diary Nﬂn‘lp“, OctObBr 63 18295
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in later years the General Assembly elected him to the raank of MajorwGofie
eralau

For the next few days Grigsby viewed the wrangling in the Convention
over the best method of accomplishing its task, Finally agreement w28
reached to appoint a comnittes for each of the three departments of gove
ernment for the prupose of taking into coziaidara‘i;ion each respective do=
partment, "as established by the present Consiitution,” and to report to
the Conventlon eny amendments or changes necesssry, In the case of the
Legislative department, they were to report, "either a substitute for the
same" or any necessary changes.éz A fourth committeec was also appointed.
This latter body was tto take into consideration the Bill of Rights, énd |
such other parts of the present Constitution as are not otherwise re-
femdg"w .

Mr. Tazewell, Grigsbyls friend, was not in complete accord with
the decision so reached, He wished the Constitution and the Bill of
Rights to be discussed and examined by a commitiee of the whole House,
and he thereby offered a resolution to that effect,M  Tazewell appear-
ed a little dubious of this measure himself, for Grigsby wrote: ‘

After breakfast I saw Mr. Tazewsll who explained with great a-

bility to me the leading advantages of the substitubte he offered
yesterday in Committee, He also informed me that he would offer the
resolution today but not with the slightest idea of its adoptions

it was his own opinion that it ought not to be offersd, but his

friends seemed desirous that he should do so, and he acted for then
but against his own Judgment (45 .

41, Cordon, William F, Gordon, pe 88s

42, Journal, Virginia Convention 1829-30, ps 19,
L3, Ibidu, Pe 220 .
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The resolution was offered a second time but as the author sugpect~
ed, it was rejected and by a vote of thirty-four to fifty-four, It is
interesting here to note that Robert B, 'I‘aylof of the Norfoll delegation,
(the nineteenth Senatorial District), the man whom Grigsby was later to
replace, was the sole dissenting voter, on that proposal, of that delew
gation,hé | ’ | |

After the method of proceedings was setiled by the adoption of
the cormittee systenm, ‘and the delegates ware appointed to thoss different
bodies, the vork of the Convention devolved largely upen thosa comndtiees,
As the Legislative Commlttes inherited the all important basis of repe
resentation question, gmi ag Mr. Tazewsll was a member of that group, |
Grigsby usually found himself in abttendance at the session of that body,
However those were nob the only reagons Grigsby constantly viewed the
deliberations of that body. Iater on Grigsby xecorded in his diary that
Tazewell asked him to attend ths sessions of the Commibice due to his
(Tazewell) having to be absent (he had to return to Iéorfolk)gw <At this
early date he was attending purppsaly to get a full account of the .pro-r
ceedings in that body.

Menﬁibn was made abové of Taylor‘s being replaced by Grigsby in
the Norfolk delegation, Actually 1t appears to this writer that fram the
very beginning of the Convention, and perhaps from the day Taylor was e~

\
lected as a delegate, the ot.her three members were opposed to his presence

46es Journal, Virginia Convention 1829-30, pp. 19, 20,
L47. "Diaxy No. 4%, Cctober 13, 1829,
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and were schening ﬁo oust hime It was a well Iélovm fact Mre Taylor favor-
ed reforms in the Cansti‘oution,ka This then aligned him with westem i;n«-a
terests ~ interests very much opposed by the other membors of his group,
The first evidence that discord existed between Taylor and his colleagues
has already bsen revealed above in the vote taken on Mr. Tazewsllls rese
olution, Obher observabions will be presented, culminating in Taylor's
ultimate resignation..

Though young Grigsby was very much occupled with the Conventien,
he did not fail his studies and the books he had brought along. Only a
few days had elapsed bsfore he drew up another course of study, and though
he made some attempts to follow that plan, he was not too successful in
doing so, His efforts wers probably defeated for the simple reason there
wers s0 many pecple with whom he could converse} Further, the sessions
of the Legislative Committes were too exciting for Griésby to resign
himself to study, | A

In order to ascertain the functicning of the Convention during the
second week of deliberation, one had only to read accounts which appear-
ed in one of the local newspaperss "The different comiitteos arc activew
ly and 1aborioual;;r engaged and reports from same of them, may nmq‘be
‘early anbicipated, In the meantime, the sessions of the Convention ite
solf are brief, and ibts proceedings unjnterestmg.‘."w And the following
days

L8s mgim i%ovember 10, 1829, leticr from Robert Be Taylor to
Janes h’.onreoe, President of the Conventions
49e Richmond thig; October 15, 1829.
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The Cormittees detailed by the Convention, now sit from 10 to 2
otclock, and are besieged by numerocus crowds, attracted by the im
portance of their deliberation, and the celecbrity of many who join
in the discussions. The Convention itself, merely mests to adjourn,
presenting Lhe unheard of spoctacle, of a deliberative body whose
entire nma?ers were [are] absorbfad by ite cormittees, ax;;.g which until
those committees shall reporbt, has no one thing o do,"

It was not until the third weck of deliberation that all of the
committees finally reported, In the meéntime Grigsby had indulged in .sav-'-.
eral conversations concerning the merits of ,Ganeml Taylors, He revealed
in one of those discussions what he perceived to be the ulti:;ﬁte abjective
of !y, Taylor in adopting the course (of reform) which he had chosen,
Grigsby expressed bslief that the Ceneral had an gye to & s=at in the
United Stabes Senate and thus "this wes the polar sbar that guided hm."ﬂ

On the day the legislative Committes reported its resolutions,
Grigsby was not present ab tﬁe procesdings, He wrote: "Having some ap~
rangements to make, I did not attend the session of the Convention, being
convinced that nothing of importance would be transacted.*;z He' gave no
indication as to what those arrangements might have been, bub ;:onceivably
he was occupied with obtaining another rooming place now that the State
lagislature was nearing assemblys |

This writer has ’mmovered only one instance in which Grigsby ex~
pressed an opinion centrary to the belief of lir, Tazewell, and this he
recorded only a short time before he entered the Convention as a delegatae,
In referring to a conversation which had taken place between Tagewell,

-

50, Ibid., October 16, 1829,

51, #hiary Hoe 4%, October 23, 1829,

52, Ibid,, October 25, 1829, (Grigsby was confused on the date,
It was 24th of Octobers)s
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Loyall, William lMaxwell (& Norfolk friend bubt not a delegate) and hime
self, Grigsby stabed:
I recollect hearing Mr, Tazewell say that, they talk of basing repe
resantation upon numbers, they might as well talk of basing reprosene
tation upon grannies [sidl . That in an equal apportiomment by nume
bers, today or tomorrow would destroy the level - this man would die,—-
that Cnar] would lsave the country - and so in a ghort time, the ine
evitable inequality attendant on all human institutions would appear
as strong as ever.”
As to this conception the young man wrotes
To this opinion I camnot yield assents True, inegualities will exist
in all stage and states of being -~ bubt gross inequalities need not
exlst and would not exist in an equal apportionment of population, at
least not wntil 10 years, the usual perdiod for taking census, when
the counties would bs re-apportioned to the original standard."s3
Although Grigsby was much the younger of the two men, he most certainly
was being the more objective in this instance, Bub now to turm once again
to the case of General Taylora | |
Grigsby made mention in his diary only of Mr. Tazewellls returning
to Norfolk for a few days, as referred to earlierj However, ¥r. Loyall,
a menber of the Norfolk delegation, also went alonge It is this writer’s
belief that the two men returned homs in order té influence theiyr conw-
sbituents to gebt a little strict with General Taylor, and so order him to
vote with the easterners in the Convention. This assumption is based upon
the fact that not long afterwards, Taylor recelved several sets of ine
structions fram his constibuents which evidently ordered him to adhere to

the adopted course or to vacate his seat, In the meantime, Taylor received

53¢ Ibid., October 27, 1829,
5l Norfolk American Beacon, October 12, 1829,
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no sympathy from the man who was evenbuelly to take over that seat, Grigs-
by wrotes

After breakfast [I] attended the Capitol, where I heard Watlins Leigh
Ldelegate from Chesterfield countyl deliver one of the most eloguent
speaches ever delivered beforg a deliberative body. He nobly main-
tained the interests of the east against all opponents with an elo-
quence that awakened every mind, and produced its influence on every
heart, He assumed a bold and decisive stand 2gainst the spirit of

- Reform, and hurled defiance at its supporters. . o : :

Grigsby went on to relate that “poor General Taylor? seaemed much disturb-
ed at Leigh's blasts and "He (Taylor) rose to make an explanation in which
nothing was explained - he showsd a face covered with the bloodiest crim~

SoNesss" Further: "He [Taylor] deserved this treatment, and he paid sev-
' 55 '
erely for his treason to the East.” : :

As to the instructlions to lMrs Taylor, Grigsby recordeds

Today [I] attended the Convention, and recieved fsic] a commmica-
tion from Chandler [evidently a Horfolk associate] which contained ine
structions to Gen. Taylore I called Mr, Tazewell ocut of the Convention,
and commnicated the instructions to him., He told me not to keep

out of the way as I might be wanbted; that the delegation had come to

a determination - and that lr, Loyall wished to see me, I hereby half
believed that I was the individual sslecied, A short time [aterl all
the delegation, consisting of Prentiss, Loyall and Tazewell came near
where I was, and Hr, Tagzewsll called me aside, He then informed me
that I had been choseny and that I had bsttor keep within reachj that 56
. the credentials would be made out and delivered to me in & short bime,

Thus iirs Taylor could nob accapt the instructions given him and chose
rather to resign., In a letter to lfr, Monroe, the President, he explained
that he could not éonsciantiously execute the wishes of his colleagues,
and apparently a lavrge majority of the peopls in his district, and there~

fore tendersd his resignation, His letter clearly expressed that inasmuch

550 Grigsby, "D:i.af:y Nos 5, November 1, 1829 -~ May 1, 1830%,
November 3, 1829, .
56, Ibid., November 7, 1829,
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as his original intention w@s to support the reform measurss advocated by
~ the west, he fell he had violated no trust. '

- As might have been expected Taylor!s resignation wes the source of
mach talk and a great deal of writing, While at lsast one newspaper ap-
proved of the Generells course, othors considered he hed been illogally
deprived of his seat and so should have remained as the lawiul delegatos
The editors of a Norfolk papsr wrote: "His [Tayloris] course, we think,
under every aspect, 1s entitled to particular approbation and respac't."sg |

According to one of the Richmond papers, therabove quoted period-
ical was biased, as were all of the Norfolk paparso)g Thereby such ape -
probation was expectsds In conbrast, the editors of a Richmond p&per,A
the Whig, seemed overvhelmingly in favor of Mrs Taylor, and believed he
should have retained his position. In regard to the stand assumed by the
editors of that paper, theira was & posibion based wpon senbiments favore
ing many of the reform measures sponsored by the wests They expressed
the opinion that the ousbing of General ,i"aylor was one of many foul efs
forts afoot to defeat the white basis of repmssnmtianfq This partice
ular paper was very bitter over the issue of Taylorl!s departure, and for
several daysk carried az'ticles‘ resisting such "foul" measuress Another
of the leading Richmond periodicals of the day, the Enguirer; though fae

voring reform measures, made little reference to the ilasues

57 Journal, Virgmia Convention 1829-30, Letter from T “‘aylnr to
Monroe, President of the Conventlon, pp+ 49, 50
584 American Beacon, Novamber 9, 1829,

94 Whig, N r 23, 1829.
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In that all sources concerned wsre obviously prejudiced, it becomes
somewhat difficult to give a fair appraisal as to whether Taylor was re-
ieved of his position in a legal manners The legaiity or illégality of
such action revolves about'the number. of qualified volers whbse Names ap=
peared on,; or who were responsible for; the instructions directed to that
delegate, Based ﬁpan information talen from Tayloris letier of resignation,
one can eaglly conclude that a majority of his constitz;;ents favored dis~
patching those instructions, Subsequent events all but proved this to be
a fact, Upon returning home lMre Taylor made several speeches before a
mumber of his constituents explaining b:is action in the Convention, Though
he was successful in one of those meetings in securing resolutlions which
amounted to approbation of his course and a request for tho resignation
oi‘v Hugh Be Grigsby, this represented the height of his}success.él In ane
other such meeting before the voters of Norfolk county, though the action
of Taylor (while in the Convention) was approved, a proposal requesting
the resignation of Grigsby was rejected.éz A similar agreement was reache
ed by the qualified volers of Nansemond cmms;y'.,.é3 Princess Anne, the re-
maining county in the nineteenth district, held a like conference, bub
the resolutions approving Taylorts position were signed by only a vex'y" fow .
voters.&& ‘

Thus while it is apparent a majority of the voters of the nineteenth

61, American Beacon, November 12, 1829,
62, Ibid,, November 17, 1829,
639 hrhig, ﬁovanb@r 163 ]—829i
64s Ibide, November 30, 1829, Letter frau a citizen of Norfolk
Districte
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district refused to rebuke Taylor for his course as thelr representative,

they were unwilling for him to be seated againe UWhile Grigsby was plague-
ed in several instances with requests for his resignation, it can be cone
cluded he had the approval of a vmajority of his constituents in replacing
Taylor as one of thelr delegates, The youngster did not let them down,



CHAPTER IIX
A DELEGATE

Novembsr 9, 1829, was the day Grigsby “bomk h:.s seat as a delega.te
to the Constitutional Corwenticm. He was nob yet twanty—-thraa years of
ages On that day he recorded in his diarys "Ab aboub half past tén
otclock today, I walked into the Canvention Hall, and deliverad my cre-
dentlals to th-a clerk« I was congrotulated by Gene Broacma.x, Gen, Gor—
don, Gen, Boyd, and a host o.{’ ctherso"l | ,

| Broadnax, Gordon and Boyd wers delegates J’;‘zﬁm \thé second, twéh’cy-»
second and bwelth districts respectivelys o |

| Young Grigsby most surely was in & pérturbad 'st.ate of mind dufiag
his firsﬁ féw weeks as a member of the Convention foi' o:@ seveﬁal occé,siens
during that period he received leﬁters and’ inéﬁmcticns from the peo;ﬁle
of 'his district reqwlring hi'.fs résiglﬁation, In one such instance a let‘ber

2
from h:LS native Norfolk bara the names of 270 persons, But to h:s 5 grea.t

3
ralief, he also rece:.ved a rmm.ber of lett.ers adv;:.smg, ag&ms‘b vesignauma

Th:r.s, together mth the support of his fellow colleaguas, stremthaﬁed

Gr:.gsby in his desire to remain,

1. "Diary No. 5", Noveznber 9, 1829.
2. Ibid., Noverber 18, 1829,
3. lbid., November 13, 1, 1829,
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The writer will now give & brief summary of the more important
business accomplished by the Convention until the date Grigsby entered
ag a delsgate,

As an interested citizen the youngsbter from Norfolk had witnessed
relatively slow progress in the Convention. Finally, nearing the end of
the third week, the Loglslative Comnittee submitted its set of resolu-
tions, As this was the last to report of the four Comittees which had
been appointed to study the different sections of the Constitution, in-
cluding the Bill of Rights, it was generally expected that the work be
fore the ninety-six delegates would then be accomplished with greater
rapidity, However, this was not exactly the case, The decisions and
resolutions so reached by the above mentioned Commitiees remained to be
passed upon by the entire Convention. In order to provide for greater
efficiency in those undertakings, the Convention organized into a Commite
tee of the ﬁ:wilruzsl.‘.qagJtp This was the last large body so established by the
Convention, and it was through this method that the real work of that
deliberative group was accomplished.

The major obstacls which remained to be surmounted lay in the ques~
tion concerning the basis of representation. Tiﬁs problem, quite natural-
ly, was part of the business whiéh had been taken up by the Legislative
Committee aﬁd there proved a source of great contention,  However, that
had not come as a great surprise for, as stated before, this question was

a known problem of some years! standing. Only after lengbhy debate, and

be Proceedings and Debates, ppe 40, 41.
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some campromising on the part of cne of the older members (lir. Madison),
was the question passed in that Commitliee, but then only as pertained to
membership in the House of Delegatesf‘ The resolubion conceming the
basis of representation as finally reported by the Legislative Committee
readi “Resolved, that in the appérticzment of representation in the
House of Delegates, regard should be had te the white population exclue
sively."6 The same basis for the Senate was rejectedo'z

The business as reported by the four selscted Committess was now
befors the Committee of the Whols Conventlons Several resolutions offered
by individual members also were up for consideration, This then was the
state of affairs when Grigsby assumed his seat, The situation was to re-
main relatively the same for some wecks 40 comes

Young Grigsby witnessed debate after debate upon the merits (and
demerits) of many plans of compromise concerning the basis question bo-
fore agreement was actuated, | ‘

Discussion upon the all important resoluntions of the Legisiative
Comnlttee had begun before Grigsby entered as a delegates Green of Cule
peper set forth the first proposal regarding that reports He moved to
amend the resolution calling for membership in the House of Delegates to
be based upon white population exclusively to read as follows: HThat in

the apportionment of representation in the Houss of Delegates regard

5« Whig, October 17, 1829,
6+ Journal, Virginia Convention 1829-30, pe 36e
7. Enquirer, October 16, 1829,
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8

should be had to the white population and taxation combineds" Such a
proposition would have favored the easts This can be clearly seen
through the following figures, In that year (1829), the average valua~
tion according to sections for tax purposes was 92 cents per acre for
the trans-Alleghany, $7.33 for the Valley, $8.20 for the Pledmont and
$8s43 per acre for the Tidewatergg Benjamin W, Leigh, delegaté from
Chesterficld, was mors explicit., He stated that for every dollar levied
on the people west of the Blue Ridge, $3.16 was levied on those east of
the mounbains, and for every dollar paid by the westerners, $3.2, was
paid bj the people of the east.;o For three weeks arguments were ad-~
vanced by both sides. The amendment offered by lir. Green then was voted
upon and rejected, On that date Grigsi:y recorded in his diary: ® I at-
tended the Convention and heard Stanard conclude his speech of the day
before supporting Green's pmposition « Then lir, RBandolph took the floor
and spoke for one hour and four-fifths, The question was then taken on
Gresn's amendment, and we of the Bast lost it by 2 votes, l;"(‘-iﬁ,"ll

After the defeat of the above amendment, some interesting figures
were revealed by a Riclmond newspaper comparing the population figures
(white people only) represented by those delega.té.s who opposed against
the figures of those who vobted for the measure. If those figurss are

correct (and they appear to be reasonable), then 402,63. persons were

8. Procesdings and Debates, ps 53s

9e Ambler, Sectionalism in Virginia, p. 14l.

104 Procecdings and Debates, ps 153

11, "*Diary lios 5%, November 14, 1829. -
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reprasented by the 49 delegates who opposed the propesition, whersas only
280,000 constituents wers represented by the 47 members who voted in favor
of the amendmentglg By doing a quick tally based on these population fig-
ures, the writer discovers that had the Convention members been chosen on
the white population basis, (a ylan which had been set forth bub defeatod
by ﬁhe eastern legislators), than no less thah,sé of thé‘96 délegatea
would have favored that basis of representation for selecting members of
the General Asaewbly, Assumlng these figures are not in error, is it any
wonder the easternars wars qppoaed to the white basis and tlms veted for
Greenls proposal? ” |

Several days following the abové proposal, Grigshy haardka éacond
propoeition set forth as an asendment to the basis resolution for the
Hauae of Delegates, Lelgh of Cheaterfield propoged a sﬂhema requiring
three-fifths of the slaves toc be reprasented.13 The young delegate froam
Norfolk noted that this propasal also fLiled and by the s&a& vute as
Graen's proposal - &7 to h9a14

This second measure resultinb 1n dafeat, it was decided by the mem-
bers of the Convanblon to pass over the basis questlan for thelnaantzmﬁ
and endeavor to attaln agreament on other resoluuxons set dowm by the
Legislatlve Commmttea.lﬁ After some measure 6“‘succéss ﬁith the suffiage

question, the Senate then became the chject of debate, In conjunction

12+ VWhig, November 17, 1829,

13, Procesdings and Debates, ps 322

1lhe "Diary Noe 5%, Novamber 16, 1829,
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with this issus, lir. Gordon of Albemarle (Grigsbyts friend), inbroduced
a proposal which, in amended fowm, ultimately sebtled the whole of the
i:asis question. His plan for representation was as followss
‘ There shall be ten Senators Vest of the Blue Ridge of mountainse
There shall be in the House of Delegates one hundred and twenty
membersy of whom twenty-sixz shall be elected from Virginla lying Vest
of the Alleghany mountaing; twenty-four from the Valley between the
Alleghany and Blue Rz.dge to the head of 'b:l.dewwaters and thirty-three
i‘.hence belows 16 ‘

This proposal was then placed upon the tabls for future discussion.
Thereafter several éimilar proncsals weré advanced, bize by Upshur of North-
ampton, a second by Leigh of Ghesteri’ield, a third by Cooke of Frederick,
and a fourth by John Marshall, T - Actually, these five measures were Com=
promise attempts and wers concerned exclnsiirely mth »reprasentatioﬁ in
the two houses of Legislature as to basis and appertiﬁnment of merbership,
The following page contains & chart which reveals those plans, |

These measures were welcomed with relief both in regard to the dele-
gates and the populace as a wholeq. For many days the local (Bichmond)
newspapers had been unable to repém any substential progress on the tasks
bei‘bre the delegates, Their accounts as to accomplishments had run As‘tyme-
what the same from day to day: "?Je cannot yet ccngratulate the People,
on their Representatiﬁes being in sight of land, | The apporticment" of
\reprasen‘oation is not "decided. S‘;'o question is yet taken, which chalks out

: 18
the course of the Convenbione®

16. Ibidt Pe 16—55.
17+ Ibldt, PP 494-19F s
18, Lnquirer, November 263 1829¢



DELEGATES NOe. HOUSE  NUMBER HOUSE OF DELAGAT-S SHNATE
oF lst or 2nd or 3rd or 4th or 1lst 2nd 3rd 4th
DELECATES  SENATE Western Valley Middle Tidewater -
District District Digtrict District Dist, Diste Dist. Dishbe

Cooke 120 36

Gordon - 120 24 26 .2 37 33 - “ - -
Upshur 120 30 26 22 38 - 34 7 6 9 8
Marshall 126 — 24 23 43 36 - o - -
Leigh 126 — - - - -

26 23 42 35

Cooke favored representation according to the white basis in the House of Delegates and a mixed
basis in the Senate (white population and taxation combined).l Neither Gordon nor Leigh referred to the
basis of representation as perbairied to population, but divided the State into districts and awarded
each district a number of delegates.g Leigh nér Marshall made reference to the size of the Sanaté, and
vhile Gordon did so, he did not give a brsakdown according to districts.g Upéhur recommended a basis
(for both Houses) taken from an average of the white population, the mixed bas:.s, and federal numbers.k
Marshall proposed & basis drawn from an average of the white population and federal numbers according

5
to the census of 1820, An amended form of Gordonts resoclution ulbimately proved successfuls

1. Proceedings and Debates, p. 495.

26 Ibldo’ PDe 1855, 1+95’ 13'959

3. Ibld., Pes 455.

Lo Journal, Virginia Conventicn 1829~30, ppe 61, 62,
5 Proccedlnps and Dsbates, pe. 499.

64
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The above quote appeared before the five compromise measures were
introduced, but these propesitions did not alter the situation immediate-
Iy« It remained for Harshall and Hadison to call for adoption of some
type of compromise measurse before agreement was atta.inedalg

All the vhile Grigsby was In constant attendance. Beginning the
second week of December, he and several other morbers were putting ia
long days of deliberation, for the General Assembly was then in session,
The long hours evidently were quite taxing upon Grlgsby, for until that
date he had each day recorded the highlights of the day!s happenings in
the Convantion; aftervards, the accounts becamé very sketchy, and he mere-
1y recorded: “Attended Legislature and Convention', or MAttended Convene
tion®, Though Grigsby was well occcupled during those days .(attendin-g
both the Coavention and the House of Delegates), he nearly always found
time for his daily walk, The remainder of the day's activily was consumed
in reading, wribing to his friends, and his favorite pastime -~ conversa~
tlone ,

It was remarkable that the young man was not often sick ceﬁsidering
his leng hours of activiby and state of health, but on oiily two days (and
they %zeré successive days) did siclmess prevent his atbtending his dntias,zo
Porhaps the heavy activity helped remove his mind from constant thoughts
of poor heaith, and cénééqﬁeixtl,y he did nbﬁ Horryh hﬁmself into a ‘stat.‘e

of sickness.

19, Ibide, Dacember 1, 3, 8, 1829,
20, "Diary Nos 5", December 31, 1829, January 1, 1830,
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Shortly after the legislabive session of 1829~30 convened, it bew
came necessary for the Convention to locate anothei' meéting place for, as
stated before, the Hall of the &ioﬁéé of Delegates was the mesting place
of that bod;ﬂ One of the local churches (Presbyterian) was first adopted
as a sultable place, but due largsly to the poor acoustics the church had
to be abandoned.zl Several days laber the First Bapbist Church of the
eity was chosen as a prdper site fcr delibemtion;zz Gxﬁ.gsby,’ in his
diary, referred to the new location as “the Baptist Chﬁrch near the I-icnu«
mental Church,? | | | DR
With the old meebting place also wenbt the old President of the Qon~
vention - James Honroe. The ninth day of December fgund ¥rs Monroe unable
to attend the Convention. During the same week lHanroe had one of his
colleagues of the tenth distriet, Charlés Fa Iieréar, present to thé Cone
vention his letter of resignabion: '
Sir, |
My indisposition rendering it impossible for me to perform my
duties, either as presiding officer, or as a member of the Conven-
tion, I owe it to that body, to my constituents, and to the Commonw

wealth, to resign my seat, to enable my colleagues to devolve on
some other person the duties that I am thus prevented from porforms—
@ . . N

I avail myself of this opportuniiy, to express my grateful sense
of the gensrous confidence of my constituentsy evinced by their e—
lection of me to the important trust, and of thelr support of me in
the course that my conscientious coavictiuns have induced me to taks
in the execution of that trust, though it differed In some degrss

21; Uhig, Dacember 9, 1829a

22, Journal, Virginia Convention 1829~30, p. 72.

23, "Diary Hoe 5", December 11, 1829.

2Le Journal, Virginia Convention 1829-30, Letter from James Monroe
to Philip Barbour, Acting President of the Convention, pe 10.
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with the senbiments they had entertained,

For the distinction with which I have been honored by the Convene
tion, by its selection of me to preside over its deliberations, I
have already offersd nyy grateful acknowledgements; and I beg leave
again to tender them, and to add, that as a testimony of approbation
of my conduct in the many important trusts I have held, under the
State and Federal Government, at home and abroad, it will continue to
be a source of coasolation to me to the latest moment of my life.

In sepamting myself from the Convention, I cannot refrain from
the expression of ny ardent and anxious hopes, that the result of its
deliberations may cormspond with the expectations so fondly cherishe
ed before its session commenced, and that a Constitution will be
framed that will secure the rights and protect the interests of all,
cammand the public approbation, and promote the happiness and pros-
perity of the State.

I beg you to tender to the members of the Convention indlvx.aua.llya
my most respectful salutations, and to be assured of the high csteem
with which

I ang, ’ :
Your most obedient servant,

| | JAIS HONROE,

Note on the resignation of v, Monro.e iﬂsk :Lnterééting hera ndt_ only
due to what Grigsby had wri‘tten cmceming his caéability at ’ohé TOIy bew
: gizming of the Cenveni;mn, ‘mrt also for 'hh» reason Gen, Taylor was named
by the rmrnaanlng members of the tenth district dels gation m take over
Honroels vacant saa*!;, If any of the western delegates lookaed forward to
Taylorls appaamﬁce, 'bhej soon wera d.iSappé:’mted i’ér he quickly notified
the delegaws of his inability to attend, though he highl,f valued the
honor thuu offered hlm % Another appointee rcac‘b.ly accep'bed whc Was,
quite natuml]y, a western adherent.

Grigsby made no mention in his diary conceraing the resigaation of
Monroe, but it is of same interest to record his opinio}) of ‘Philip Pa |

Barbour, delegate from Orange county, who was elected to succeed lMr, louros.

25» Ibidi’ pPe 79
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He wrotes

From Orenge, deserves all the credit for talents and industry, in-
corruptible integrity, and wnassuming worth, that I can give ~ that
the world can bestow upon him,

His appearance is unfavourable, and he is decidely [sic] an ugly
man, bub he is overpowering in logic, His voice is harsh, his mamner
tolerable s but his logic excellents, A quick, very rapid speaker;
condensing his thoughts muchs

I became well acquainted with himy, and say xuthout hesitation, that
he is worthy of any honor that a nation can bestow upon a man dsvobed
to its best interests, almost unrivalled [sldl in the powers of his
mind, and incorruptible integrity. 26

The sketch of Barbour was only one among many which Grigsby come
pleted while attending the Convention, Shortly after the assembly had
convened, he recorded in his diary his intention to describe the varlous
persons of distinguished charecter who were px‘esent.27 A few days later
he was more explicits He then expressed his intention to *delineate the
personal appearances of members of the Convention, and the style of
their eloquence, or it might rather be said the structure of their
mj.nds.ﬂzs \

Actually it was Grigsby!s intention to write up all the members,
but he was only successful in completing sketches of those members comw
posing the delegations of the first nine Senatorial Districts, plus one
delegate of the tenth district, Charles F. Hercem The writer will here

present brief interpretations of those sketches of the more prominent -

26, Hugh B, Grigsby, "Sketches of Members of The Constitutional
Convention of 1829~30", Vol, II Nos 3, in The Viyxginia Hagazine of History
and Biographys e

27. "Diary Nos 4", October 8, 1829,

284 Ibid., October 11, 1829,
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figures who were present and several of those delegates who were not
widely known prior to the Convention bul who proved themselves fully
capable during its sessions,.

Benjemin W. Leigh, one of the most compsbent and influential per-
sonalities who attended; and referred to in seversl instances above, was
one of the very first mermbers whom Grigsby depicted.

Benjamin W, Leigh - A handsome man past fifty, bub seeming much

younger, he was of normal height and graceful, though he was lame, He
vas an eloquent and uncompromising leader in debate on all important is-
sues in the Convention and especially distinguished himself in speald_ng
. against reforms, He was clear in his reasoning and & good speaker, and
only & "childish fretfulness® in his mammer sometimes marred his excells
encmz9

John Farshall - From appearance, he seemed devoid of intellect,

He was a tall lean man unfashionably and carelessly dressed, with a poor

speaking voice and mamer, However, his always obvious conviction in

his cause and btrue reasoning, as well 2s his great age and high position,

combined to render him a "powerful advocate and most formidable opponen‘z,'iBo
John Tyler - He spoke very little, thus ai‘fording scant oppor-

tunity for observation of his characterj however, he was a tall and grace-

ful man witk; a very pleasant and maffected manner, and when he did3§peak,

it was with gestures of a polished gentleman rather than a debaters

29+ Grigsby, "Sketches of Members of The Constitutional Convention®,
PPe 320-321, C

30, Ibido, DPDs 322-~323,

31. Ibidog PDe 323“’3214-Q
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Chapman Johnson - A man at odds with himself, he was in the terri-

ble position of having to assit in changing a Coastitubion which he obvi-
ously revered. Unfortunately he chose to strike a middle road and there-
fore was not trusted Ly his friends of the west and laughed at by his
opponents of the sast, He was often embarrassed by his precarious position
and his influence was little, Grigsby rated him a great man and pitied
his inner conf]icﬁ.Bz '

John Randolph - A most impressive person was this man from Roanoke,

His slightest movements wers noted by all eyes in the Convention, and even
his demand that the clerk "read louder® caused a hush to fall over the
33 '

entire congregation., His appearance was one of a slim boye

James Madison ~ A small old man in antiquated clothing, he retained

the sane "jocoss dispcscltion“ of years ago, and jested during the speak-
ing of others, bubt appeared Irdghtened vhen speaking lhimself, His mind
was slow but steady in the confusion of & crowded assenbly wheré many
questions wsre put to him*%

How to return to the final few wecks of deliberation in the Conven-
tion, The reader should recall the story was dropped with the introduction
of the five compromise measures offered, the msigzahim of Mr, Monroe
and the subsequent appointment of Philip Barbour as Convention President.,

Debate on the five measures occupied the sessions during most of November

and for several weeks in Decermber., Finally, on the 18th of December,

32 Ibida, ppa 326"‘327@
339 Ibidog Ds 330ﬁ-
3Le Ibide, pe 331e
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agreament was accorded on an amended version of Gordonl’s proposition by .
a vote of 50 to 46, ‘ _ _

As adopted, Gordon's resolution provided for a Senate of thirty-
two members and a House of Delegates with 127 delegates. The west was
to be represeanted in the Senate by thirteen memberss, The reméining nine-.
teen Senators were Lo be elected east of the Blue Ridgees The breakdown
of the House was as follows: "Twenty-nine (membersl shall be elected
from the district west of the Allsghany mountaing twenty-four from the
Valley between the Alleghany and Blue Ridge; and forty from the Blue
Ridge to the head of tide water; and thirty-four thence belowe“35

There are several explanations as to how a resolution such as
Gordonlis (remember it igiored the white basis question entirely, the one
object of the west) received the necessary Bajority vobe for passage,

One of those reasons was ﬁhe change in atiitude of both Madison and Mare
shall, The two were first regarded as neutral, but as the Conventlon
progressed, they gradually tended to slde with the eastemers.gé A sege
ond explanation concerns a changed attitude on the part of the delegates
from the middle section of the stale. Those members came to the Conven-
tion with the intention of supporting most of the reform measures, bub .
when Gordont's plan was introduced, they quite na.turally underwent & change
of mind in that Gcrdoms proposition increased their members in the House

of Delegates by several delegates, This can be ascertained by merely

35+ Journal, Virginia Convention 1829-30, p, 108,
36+ Ambler, Sectionalism in Virginia, pe 165.
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reviewing Gordon'!s proposal, Another factor which helped bring about the
passage of the: above resolution, and which is of particular interest here,
was the resignation of General Taylor and the appointment of Hugh Grigsby
to fill that vacancy, That changa resulted in the loss of a vote for the
west and the gain of a vote for the east, Though that difference may ap=
pear minor in theory, in actual practice such an alteration can mean a
world of difference, and in the case of the Convention, such was the story
as the voting was quite evenly distributed.

The passing of Gorden’s resolubtion by no means brought about the
termination of the Ccnvention; but :Lt set the stage for agreement on the
remaining problems, and thus the eventual passage o: the new constitution
which was effocted on Ja‘nuax"y 14, 1830 by a vote of 55 to 40, Mprs Dodd=
ridge was the cnly member absent for the final ballot 037

Actually the new constitution was but littie different from the
one adopted in 1776, The suffrage was extended, and tho Ixecutive Coune
¢il was reduced in membership (but not abolished as the west had wished)s
Other than these changes and a few alterations in the judiciary, the west
benefited little from the efforts of the Constitutional Convention, and
one gquickly notices this in reviewing a breakdmai of the balloting favore
ing adoption‘ of the new doc‘zﬁn‘ant. The only delegate from west of the
Blue Ridge who supported the new instrument was Cooke of Frederic countyass
Thus by this fact alone it can hardly be said that the new constitution

composed the differences betwesen east and west which brought about the

37, Journal, Virginia Gonvenbion 1829-30, pps 296, 297.
38, Ambler, Sectionalism in Virginia, p. 168,
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Convention of 1829-30, Some of those differences were settled in later
conventions; others were dissolved by the division of the state in 1863,

The following April (1830) the newly-framed instrument wes proe
sented to the qualified voters for passage‘or rejection and was ratified
by a majority of nearly 9,000 voles. As was expected, the east favored
ratification whereas the west t:qu‘osea:h39 The ﬁap at the end of this
chapter present a clearer canception of that voting,

Grigsby recorded nothing in his diary as pertained to the division
of vote on the canstitution, but he did give an interesting, if not touch-
ing, desecription of the last moments of the last day's sessioni _

There was presented a most trying scene - trying to my feelings.

I could scarce refrain from shedding tears, when I saw the tremell-
ous Isicl state of Col, Barbour, the decply affected and venerable
Mr, Madison, the evident sympathy of Randolph, and the strong ex~
pression of feeling which masked Mr. Tazewell’s fac‘e.l*o

With such deep emotion within his heart and that Myrying® scens
pictured indelibly in his mind, Hugh Blair Grigsby heard the last rap of
the Chair's gavel which signified adjournment. The night proved a bit
moxe joyful as many of the_ Convention iembars met and drank wine to-
gether. Grigsby recorded that "a'great number of members of the Senate
and House of Delegatest werzl present also, "The evening®, he added,

“was gpent in social glee "

It was necessary for Crigsby to remain in Richmond for several
wecks following the Convention due to his legislative duties. Upon

39s Jo No Brenaman, A History of Virginia Conventions, p. 48
40, "Diary No. 5%, January 15, 1830,
41, Ibid, ‘
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adjournment of that body on February 23rd, he quickly departed for his
42

native Norfolk and his many friends.

42 Ibidss Februery 23, 24, 1830,
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43
[ ] Asainst Ratification of the Constitution

L,3.Amblér, Sectionélism in ‘Virgi_p;_l' a, Pe 172,



CHAPTER IV
. APTERTHOUGHTS

Al’c.hough Grigsby lived to the age of séveh’c.y-—five, he never lost
menory of tho.,e few months during which he a’n’nended the Conventiml. From
all accounts the man held that one occasion as the most charished noments
of his active and eventful l:i.i‘e, His Speech' before the Virginia Historical
Society entitled, NThe Virginia Convention of l829-30" delivered many
years later, gives credence to such asswmption, One has only to review
t.heklengthy address to be convinced. The personalities who attended con~
vinced Grigsby. Thé discussion éi‘ tﬁose | préminant Virginians was the
bésis 61‘ his talk, To Grigsby they represented the history of the states
"To behold those venerable men - %o listen to their names ds they fell
distinctly and délibera{;ely from the lips of the accozrplished clerk,
was to feel the whole history of Virg:.nia. frau the memorable session of
1765 to tha’c. moment flash full upon you. b

Such was the p:i.c’ture one perce:.ved, he went on to relate, due to
the parallel and closeness of the lives of those presant with men such
as Washington, Peyton Randolph, Thomaa Jei'fersen, Richard Henry lee; Ed-
mund Pendleton and other figures considered as the fathers of Virginiagz

1, Hugh B, Grigsby, Discourss on The Virsinia Convention of ' 1829
30, pe 6+ Specch delivared before the Virgim.a Historical Society Decem
ber 15, 1853‘

20 Ibid,3 PDs 6 Ts
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In this conjunction he related:

If Jdefferson were nob present, there was lMadison, who carried out
in the Assembly the great measures which his abscence during his
mission to the Court of France rendered it imprecticable for him to
do in person, and to whom he had recently said: !To myself you have
been a pillar of support through life; take care of me when dead,?®
If Pendleton and Viybhe did not appear, there were Madison and Mare
shall, who had struggled with them in the Convention of 1788 a-
gainst the eloquence of Henrye.se.and if Grayson and George Mason wsre
absent, there was Monroe, who united with them in opposing the adope
tion of the federal constitution by the people of Virginiases"3

It was then that Grigsby elaborated upon the lives of some of the

more prominent men who were presente The writer will not delve into that
material as much has already been related in former chapters concerning
those personages, but there are geveral points of interest which should
be recordede One such bit of interesi was Grigsby’s mqala.na.tion, nore

or less, as to vhy many members (mclud:mg himself) were opposed to the
electlon of Mr, MHonroe as pres:.danb of the aase*nblage. He e:q;lamed that
E&ad:.son was aware of Monroe's :mablllty to peri‘om any type of laborious
service :»men he (Madison) nommated the gentleman for the Chair. Bub

had not Edrmnd Pendleton, who presided at the Convention of 1788, been
nore of an invalid than Monroe? Yes, atated Grigsby, but "the nature of |
, ’ L

the two bodies was who].ly dissimilar.% He a,cplamed tha't the meeting of
1.788 had only to accept or ragect a re.r?yumade co*zstltut.ion, and thez‘eby
the dlscussians wers conducted in & committee of the wholes Thus he stat-
ed the president was in actual charge only for a very few minubes each

days The Convention of 182%30 presented a different situation, The

30 id ., Pe 73
l‘-. u[b:Ld." pt 470
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constitution had to be drawn up within the body, and there was hardly a
man of prominence presant who did not possess a plan of his own, lMorew
over the state was strictly divided on the most important issues which
came up for discussion. Under such circumstances a man of rare ability
was needed to guide those deliberations. "For such a station", stated
Grigsby, %ee.sit is not uncourteous to say that My, Monroe, who was never
much conversant with public assemblies, and was more infirm than elther
Madison or Marshall, was wholly unfit.“s

Another point of interest which Grigsby elaborated upon was the
position adopted during the Convention by James Pleasants, editor of the
Richmond Whig, and Thomas Ritchie, editor of the Bichmondﬁnguirera, Gﬁ-,
rious as it may seam, both editors sympathized with the west and favored
refrom measures. QGrigsby stateds "The East not only received no support
from the press of Richrond, but found its editors the most influential
opponents of its favorite \ba.sia."é

The writer might add that the above was by no means an exaggerate
ed statement, and one will quickly agree upon glancing through those edi~
tions during thebconvantion. The attitude of the Whig is parbicularly
perceptible, It is easily comprehensible as to why Grigsby should bring
out this fact. Remember the Whig had denounced the ousting of General
Taylor and l;xad favored his returna?

After having reviewed the lives (and their participation in the

5e Ibido, PPe 1{-6 47e ] ‘ .
bs Ibidu, Pe 550
7s Wnig, Hovember 9, 16, 23, 30, Decembsr 14, 1829,
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Convention) of Randol;ih, Giles, Madison, Monroe, Benjamin Ieigh and others
who attended the memorable sessions, Grigsby concluded by expressing his
lament for the many members_ who had since passed away and by describing
to his audience the scene upon adjournment (which he had done so vividly
in his diary years befars).s

There was another event in Grigsby?s later life which provided him
occasion to remark upon the Convention of years paste During the. course
of a speech on the life of littleton Tazewell before the bar and citizems
of Norfolk, Virginia he elaborated upon that body (in reference to Taze~
wellls participation in that assembly) and revealed something which is
of interest here, In reference to Tazewellts resolution (a proposal that
a committee of the whole be used as the most expedient method to accom=
plish the work of the Convention ~ see Chapter II, p. 16), Grigsby reveal-
ed his complete accord with that measure, He stated: "Had that resolu- -
tion been adopted, I now believe, as I believed then, that a constitution
would have been formed which would have lasted for half a century, and »
that Tagewell, as a skilful and fearless mediator between East and Wesh,
would have performed the office with glorious succass;“g |

Grigsby undoubtedly was being more laudatory to Tazewsll in this
instance (as he had on many past occasions) than he was level~headed or
objectives | It is conceivable thaﬁ hey; as a youngster during the Convens

tion, could have favored such a proposal, but as an older and wiser man,

8+ Grigsby, Virginia Convention 1829-~30, ppe 94~9%e
9. Grigsby, Discourse on Lititleton W Tazewell, pps 65; 66, Speech
delivered before the Norfolk bar and citizens, June 29, 1860, :
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he certainly was moYe awars of the difficultigs attendant upon like site
wations. Tazewell himself had been skeptical as to the workings of his
plan (sée Chapter 1I, ps 16)e As good evidence that Grigébj did‘not at
that date (at the time of his speech on Tazewell) give full faith to his
elder friend's proposal was revealed in his very next sentence following
the above quote, He addeds "Bubt the passions of men raged highj extremes
wers the order of the day, and each paﬁ;y stood pledged to its favorite
: scheme."lo With that apparent awareness of conditions during the Convene
tion, if. is hardly conceivable that he really believed Tazewell!s pro-
posal would have workede |

A Further evidence that Grigsby held the Convention as one of the
biggest events of his active life is ewvinced through a pamphlet he kept
containing obituary notices of many of the members who had been present
at its sessions, Beside many of those clippings (he had taken the notices
from various newspapers), Grigsby had written a short account of the man,
and in some instances the cause of death. For example, he wrote by the
notice of George Loyallls death: "George Loyall died in Norfolk, Febe
ruary 29, 1868 at ten in the morning, of pnesumonia or an inflammatory
affection Tsic] of the bronchial organs., He was bomn on %ilhe 29th of May

1789, and was at his death 78 years and 9 months oldesss"
Another of his entries included a list of the members vho yet sur-

viveds

10, Ibid., pe 66.
11, Hugh B. Grigsby, "Grigsby?!s Collection of Obituaries of Members
of Convention of 1829-1830", Found in Virginia Historical Socielys
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The following is a list of the persons who survive this twentieth
day of March 1866, of the Convention of 1829-30, with a probable ac-
count of their ages in some cases and with certainty in the case of
others: I place the names according to the divisions of the country
from which they come, beginning with Tidewater: _

George Loyall L 77
Hugh B, Grigsby 60
Mark Alexander 80
William leigh 83
ndciiard Logan 70
Lucas P, Thompson 72
Jacob Williamson ‘ 30
Fleming B, Miller 70
S. HcDowell Moors 70
James M, Mason 68
William Smith 80
John laidley 85 -
905/75
5
£0
5

“The éggregaie of the ages of the suﬁiﬁng members being 905,
the average of éach i‘s nearly seventy-five é.nd a half."lz

Even at that late date Hugh Blair Grigsby had fifteen full years
of life remainingssesasss

12, Ibid,
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